Ventimiglia v. Michigan Schools and Government Credit Union et al Doc. 16

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN
SOUTHERN DIVISION

Rosa Ventimiglia,
Plaintiff,
Case No. 14-14312

V. Hon.DenisePageHood

Michigan Schools and
Government Credit Union, et al.

Defendants.
/

ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND DE NYING IN PART DEFENDANTS’
MOTION TO DISMISS (Docket No. 5) and GRANTING PLAINTIFF'S
MOTION TO AMEND (Docket No. 12)

Before the Court is the Defendants’ titms to Dismiss Pursuant to FRCP
12(b)(6) Or In The Alternative Motion To Strike Plaintiff's "Verified Pleadings"
[Docket No. 5, filed November 20, 2014] Plaintiff filed a Response in
Opposition to Defendants’ Motion to Disssi or the Alternative Motion to Strike
[Docket No. 8, fled December 18, 2014]Defendants filed a Reply to the
Respons¢Docket No. 9, filed January 6, 2015]

Also before the Court is Pldiff's Motion to Amend/Correct Initial
PleadinggDocket No. 12, filed January 12, 2015] Defendants filed Response to

Plaintiff's Motion to Amend Complaint toddl Sections of the Fair Debt Collection

Practice Act (FDPCA) to the Complaimic Eliminate Michigan School's Liability
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Under the FDCPA ClainfiDocket No. 13, filed January 23, 2015] Plaintiff filed
a Reply to the Responfi2ocket No. 15, filed January 27, 2015]
I. BACKGROUND

Plaintiff filed a Complaint against Dendants for a violation of the Fair
Debt Collection Practice Act and Fraud airtiff initially secured a mortgage with
Defendant Michigan Schools and governm@redit Union (hereinafter “Credit
Union”) for $115,000.000, and secured tharavith the property located at 53142
Celtic Drive in Shelby Township, MichigarSix years later, Plaintiff filed for
Chapter 7 Bankruptcy and their debts wdiszharged, but liens securing monetary
obligations were not discharged.

Plaintiff continued making paymenrits two years after the bankruptcy.
After informing Defendant Credit Union that she was permitted to stay in the home
without making payments, Plaintiff ceas@dking mortgage panents. Defendant
Credit Union referred the loan to Defend&ttizman Corkery, PLLC (hereinafter
“Holzman”) in August 2014 to commenceréalosure proceedings. On August 8,
2014, Counsel sent Plaintiff a Notice ofeBch and Intent to Accelerate Mortgage
Balance. Plaintiff refused to sign ftbre certified mailingbut mailed Defendant
Holzman a “Notice of Mortgage Fraudfeeencing the Notice. Almost a month

later, Plaintiff sent a Validation DeRequest and claimed she had no monetary



obligation to Defendant Credit Union asesult of the bankruptcy. In both
instances, Defendant Holzman adviseamiff to seek legal assistance.

On November 13, 2014, Counsel sBtdintiff correspondence advising her
that the Mortgage was being foreclosadd that the Sheriff's Sale would be
conducted on December 12, 2014 at 10:00 a.m.

II. STANDARD

Rule 12(b)(6) of the Rules of Civil Procedure provides for a motion
to dismiss based on failure to state aralapon which relief can bgranted. Fed.
R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). Iell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombl\g50 U.S. 544 (2007), the
Supreme Court explained that “a plaifsifobligation to provide the ‘grounds’ of
his ‘entitle[ment] to relié requires more than lalseeand conclusions, and a
formulaic recitation of the elementsaftause of action will not do[.] Factual
allegations must be enoughrtse a right to relieflaove the speculative level...”
Id. at 555 (internal citations omitted). tAbugh not outright overruling the “notice
pleading” requirement under Rule 8(a)(2) entir@ywomblyconcluded that the “no
set of facts” standard “isest forgotten as an incomplete negative gloss on an
accepted pleading standardd. at 563.

To survive a motion to dismiss, amgplaint must contain sufficient factual
matter, accepted as true, to “state ancltn relief that is plausible on its faceld.

at 570. Such allegations are not to be discounted becausar¢hieyrealistic or



nonsensical,” but rather because thdeynothing more than state a legal
conclusion—even if that conclusion is cast in the form of a factual allegation.
Ashcroft v. Igbalpb56 U.S. 662, 681 (2009). In sufar a complaint to survive a
motion to dismiss, the non-conclusdfsctual content” and the reasonable
inferences from that content must béatpsibly suggestivedf a claim entitling a
plaintiff to relief. Id.

Where the well-pleaded facts do not pierime court to infer more than the
mere possibility of misconduct, the complanas alleged, but it has not shown that
the pleader is entitled to relief. Fed.®&v. P. 8(a)(2). The court primarily
considers the allegations in the complaint, although matters of public record,
orders, items appearing in the recordhe&f case, and exhibits attached to the
complaint may also be taken into accoufmnini v. Oberlin College259 F.3d
493, 502 (6th Cir. 2001).

Rule 12(b)(1) of the Rules of Givrocedure allows an action to be
dismissed for lack of subject matter juictebn. In a Rule 12(b)(1) motion, the
plaintiff has the burden of proving thaetiCourt has subject matter jurisdiction.
RMI Titanium Co. v. Westinghouse Elec. Cpoi8 F.3d 1125, 1135 (6th Cir.
1996). A Rule 12(b)(1) motion to dismisseigher based on a facial attack or a
factual attack of the complainOhio Nat'l Life Ins. Co. v. United Staté&22 F.2d

320, 325 (6th Cir. 1990). In a facial attack, the Court considers the sufficiency of



the complaint and must acdegl factual allegations naie therein as true unless
clearly erroneousld. at 326. In contrast, a faclugttack does not require the
Court to take all factuallegations as trueld. at 325. Rather, the Court must
resolve any factual disputes and deteemwinether it in fact has subject matter
jurisdiction. Id.

Rule 9(b) of the Federal Rules ofTiProcedure requires that “in alleging
fraud or mistake, a party must statigh particularity the circumstances
constituting fraud or mistaKe. The state of a pers@¥nind, however, may be
alleged generally. Fed. R.\CiP. 9(b). “The purposendergirding the particularity
requirement of Rule 9(b) is to providelafendant fair notice of the substance of a
plaintiff's claim in order that the daefdant may prepare a responsive pleading.”
Michaels Bldg. Co. v. Ameritrust C@48 F.2d 674, 679 (6th Cir. 1988) (citations
omitted).

Rule 15(a) provides that a party mayend its pleading once as a matter of
course within 21 days after a respongl@ading is served. Fed. R. Civ. P.
15(a)(1). Rule 15(a)(2) further providiémat a party may amend its pleading on
leave of court. Leave shall be freely giwehen justice so requas. Fed. R. Civ.

P. 15(a)(2). A district court may denyiee to amend in cases of undue delay,
undue prejudice to the opposing party, repedhilure to cure deficiencies by

amendment previously allowed or futilitfzoman v. Davis371 U.S. 178, 184



(1962). Delay alone, regardless of its length is not enough to bar amendment if the
other party is not prejudiceBuggins v. Steak ‘N Shake, Int95 F.3d 828, 834
(6th Cir. 1999). Allowing an amendnieafter the close of discovery and
dispositive motion deadline has passeghtes significant prejudice because
discovery would have tbe reopened anddldefendant must now prepare a
defense for a claim quite different thtre claim that was before the could.
When an amendment is sought at a laaestf litigation, thex is an increased
burden on the moving party to show justition for failing to move earlier.
Bridgeport Music, Incv. Dimension Films401 F.3d 647, 662 (6th Cir. 2004). If a
complaint cannot withstand a motion temiss under Rule 12(b)(6), the motion to
amend should be denied as futikRose v. Hartford dderwriters Ins. Co0.203
F.3d 417, 420 (6th Cir. 2000).
. ANALYSIS

In their Motion to Dismiss, Defendanérgue that both Plaintiff's claims
should be dismissed pursuant to FRCP 1Bjd)écause Plaintiff has failed to state
a claim upon which relief can lgganted. First, Plaintiff has failed to state a claim
for violation of the Fair Debt Collecn Practices Act against Defendant Credit
Union. The correspondences Plaintdteived were from Defendant Holzman.
More importantly, the FDCPA specificalgxcludes from its coverage lenders who

are collecting their own debGeel5 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). Since the Defendant



Credit Union is not a debt collector as defined by the FDCPA, Plaintiff’'s claim
under the FDCPA fails against Defendant Credit Union.

Second, Plaintiff has failed to statelaim for violation of the Fair Debt
Collection Practices Act as against Defant Holzman. Defendant Holzman’s
correspondence was in coliamce with Defendant @dit Union’s obligations
under the Mortgage and applicable land not for the purpose of collecting a
debt. The Court disagrees, however, beeaDefendant Holzman notified Plaintiff
that the mortgage was being foreclosedich is a type of debt collectiorbee
Glazer v. Chase Home Fin. LI.€04 F.3d 453, 464 (6th Cir. 2013) (noting that
“mortgage foreclosure is debt collection under the [FDCPA]").

Defendants argue that even if therespondences with Plaintiff were an
attempt to collect a debt, Plaintiff hagldailed to demonstrate a violation of the
FDCPA. Counsel forwarded Plaintiff vegétion of the debt in the form of a copy
of the recorded Mortgage on Septen 15, 2014. Couns&ok no further
collection action against Plaintiff from iiginal August 8, 2014 letter until its
November 13, 2014 letter advising hetloé Sheriff's Sale. Counsel was not
seeking to collect a debt, but was promglPlaintiff with notices required by the
Mortgage and applicable law. The Court disagrees, betanestosure of a

property is a type of debt collectiokee id



Third, Plaintiff’'s claim for fraud fails, because FRCP 9(b) requires that in
alleging fraud “a party must state wiplarticularity the circumstances constituting
fraud or mistake.” Plaintiff allegd3efendants “misrepresented facts and
purposely failed to discloseaterial facts in the alledeservicing/ownership of the
Plaintiff mortgage loan” and provides correspondence she prepared as evidence of
fraud. Plaintiff provides no evidencegapport her allegations of fraud, and
therefore, Plaintiff has failed to meetthpecificity requirement of Rule 9(b).

Plaintiff also sought to amend or correct the complaint by adding violations
of the FDCPA and the Regulation of li@ation Practices Act (hereinafter
“RCPA”). Plaintiff argue that Defedant is violated 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1692(e) by
collecting the debt while communicating to the debtor that they are not collecting
the debt and failing to indicate that Defentls a debt collector. Defendant will
not be prejudiced by allowing Phdiff to amend her complaint.

IT IS ORDERED thatthe Motion to Dismis§Docket No. 5, filed
November 20, 2014the FDCPA claim and fraud ctas against Defendant Credit
Union isGRANTED.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED thatthe Motion to Dismis$Docket No. 5,
filed November 20, 2014yvith regard to the FDCPAlaim against Holzman is

DENIED.



IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Motion to AmenfDocket No. 12,
filed January 12, 2015]Jis GRANTED and Plaintiff shall have 21 days to amend

her complaint.

S/Denisé¢ageHood
Denisd?ageHood
UnitedStateDistrict Judge

Dated: September 30, 2015

| hereby certify that a copy of the fg@ng document was served upon counsel of
record on September 30, 2015, by electronic and/or ordinary mail.

S/LaShawn R. Saulsberry
Case Manager




